Climateurope2

Literature based guiding principles for high-quality Climate Services

Deliverable D4.1

Last update: 1 August 2023

Authors:

Andreas Villwock



This project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon Europe research and innovation programme under grant agreement No 101056933.

Document Information

Grant agreement	No 101056933
Project title	Supporting and standardising climate services in Europe and beyond
Project acronym	Climateurope2
Project start date	01/09/2022
Related work package	WP4
Related task(s)	T4.3
Lead organisation	Helmholtz-Zentrum Hereon GmbH
Authors	Andreas Villwock
Submission date	31/08/23
Dissemination level	public

History

Date	Submitted by	Reviewed by	Vision (notes)
28/05/2023	Andreas Villwock	Jörg Cortekar	Initial draft
26/06/2023	Andreas Villwock	Elke Keup-Thiel, Susanne Schuck-Zöller	Revised draft
31/07/2023	Andreas Villwock	Stacey New and WP1 and WP4 members of CE2 consortium*	Final draft

* Commented by (in alphabetical order): Marina Baldissera Pacchetti, Uros Davidovic, Kirsten Halsnaes, Werner Krauss, Aleksandra Krzic, Harilaos Loukos, Karyn Morrisey, Kevin Ramirez, Saoia Zorita Castresana

Please cite this report as: Villwock, A., (2023) Literature based guiding principles for high-quality climate services, D4.1 of the Climateurope2 project.

Disclaimer: Views and opinions expressed are however those of the author(s) only and do not necessarily reflect those of the European Union or the European Climate, Infrastructure and Environment Executive Agency (CINEA). Neither the European Union nor the granting authority can be held responsible for them.



Table of Contents

1	Intro	oduction	8
	1.1	Objectives of the work	12
	1.2	Structure of this report	12
2	Con	cept & Method	13
	2.1	Definitions	13
	2.2	Method	14
3	Resu	ılts	16
	3.1	Landscape of Climate Service	16
	3.1.1	Providers: Public, private, profit and non-profit actors	16
	3.1.2	2 CS Types and Products: From publicly available product to custom designed applied	cation
	for s	pecific users	18
	3.1.3	3 Users: From individual customer to broad public	20
	3.2	Input for the development of a climate service	22
	3.3	The Co-production Process	26
	3.4	Output (characteristics of the climate service as such)	38
	3.5	Outcome (whether and how the climate service is used)	41
4	Disc	ussion / Conclusions	44
	4.1	Initial Guiding principles for high-quality Climate Services	48
	4.2	Next steps:	50
5	Refe	erences	51

List of tables

Table 1: Types of Climate services (EU-MARCO, 2018, Cortekar et al., 2020)	19
Table 2: Proposition of user categories with typologies to guide user identification (from Baulenas al, 2023)	et. 21
Table 3. FAIR principles (from Wilkinson et al., 2016)	22
Table 4: A Typology of Climate Services (from Visscher et al., 2020)	39

Climateurope2

Table 5: Summary	<pre>v of quality</pre>	criteria an	d indicators	for the	components	of CS	along the	value chain
discussed in Section	on 3							

List of figures

Figure 1: The essence of climate services. Source: European Commission, 2015
Figure 2: Conceptual diagram of the logic model for process management (modified from https://learningforsustainability.net/logic-models/)
Figure 3: Topics covered by the literature review14
Figure 4. Landscape of Climate Services 17
Figure 5. Assessment procedure of Copernicus Evaluation and Quality control
Figure 6: Summary of important criteria and indicators with respect to the input for a CS 25
Figure 7. Value chain of CS. (from Hewitt and Stone, 2021)
Figure 8. Framework for interdisciplinary and transdisciplinary co-creation of the knowledge castle (from Mauser et al., 2013)
Figure 9. Co-production framework (from Bojovic et al., 2021). The framework engages stakeholders by raising awareness through different communication tools (the <i>engagement</i> realm). It then involves stakeholders in knowledge exchange and co-learning, using various participatory approaches (the <i>involvement</i> realm). Finally, it empowers users of climate services, who take part in their co-development (the <i>empowerment</i> realm)
Figure 10. Co-production prism (from Bremer et al, 2019). The authors suggest a fresh look on co- production as a process best examined simultaneously from several complimentary perspectives, with reference to recent work reconceptualising co-production as an eight-sided 'prism
Figure 11. 4-pillars of CS (from https://iri.columbia.edu/actoday/, see also Vogel et al., 2019, Grossi & Dinku, 2022). Co-production is foundational for both locally led and locally owned climate services and important for ensuring climate services are both useful and usable
Figure 12: Concept of five stages of development of a climate service prototype (from Hewitt et al., 2020)
Figure 13: Principles for knowledge co-production in sustainable research (from Norström et al., 2020)

Climateurope2

Figure 14. Co-production cycle (from Vincent et al., 2018)
Figure 15. An eight-step sequential process, responding to the need for integrating citizen science and vernacular knowledge for inclusive climate service provision (from Williams and Jacob, 2021)
Figure 16: The correlation between co-design and levels of engagement intensity observed in the ERA4CS projects (from Máñez Costa et al., 2021)
Figure 17: The different levels of user interfaces for climate services (from WMO, 2018a)
Figure 18: Conceptual diagram of a development workflow for a CS of user (left) or provider initiated (right) CS, and further distinguishing between a public and private / commercial CS
Figure 19. Elements of a co-production process of a CS
Figure 20. Output criteria and indicators (after Schuck-Zöller and Keup-Thiel (2018)
Figure 21. Bridging the valley of death (from Swart et al., 2021)
Figure 22: Outcome criteria & indicators (after Schuck-Zöller and Keup-Thiel, 2018)
Figure 23: Quality criteria and indicators for the components of CS along the value chain discussed in section 3



About Climateurope2

Timely delivery and effective use of climate information is fundamental for a green recovery and a resilient, climate-neutral Europe, in response to climate change and variability. **Climate services address this through the provision of climate information for use in decision-making to manage risks and realise opportunities.**

The market and need for climate information have seen impressive progress in recent years and are expected to grow in the foreseeable future. However, the communities involved in the development and provision of climate services are often unaware of each other and lack interdisciplinary and transdisciplinary knowledge. In addition, quality assurance, relevant standards, and other forms of assurance (such as guidelines, and good practices) for climate services are lagging behind. These are needed to ensure the saliency, credibility, legitimacy, and authoritativeness of climate services, and build twoway trust between supply and demand.

Climateurope2 aims to develop future equitable and quality-assured climate services to all sectors of society by

- Developing standardisation procedures for climate services
- Supporting an equitable European climate services community
- Enhancing the uptake of quality-assured climate services to support adaptation and mitigation to climate change and variability

The project **will identify the support and standardisation needs of climate services, including criteria for certification and labelling, as well as the user-driven criteria needed to support climate action.** This information will be used to propose a taxonomy of climate services, suggest community-based good practices and guidelines, and propose standards where possible. A large variety of activities to support the communities involved in European climate services will also be organised.



Executive Summary

The market for climate services has developed rapidly over the past decade or so, originating from seasonal forecasts issued by public and private (weather) services to a crowded landscape with a wide range of applications for climate change adaptation and mitigation. To ensure quality, trust and usability in this emerging market the Climateurope2 (CE2) project aims to help develop future equitable and quality-assured climate services to all sectors of society by developing standards for climate services, supporting an equitable European climate services community and enhancing the uptake of quality-assured climate services to support adaptation and mitigation to climate change. One of the elements required to achieve these goals is the definition of (high-)quality climate services. What makes up a good climate service? Is there a common ground across the huge variety of providers, products and users of climate services? Can a climate service or parts of it be standardised to ensure and to improve quality, usability and trust?

In this deliverable, we define a first set of guiding principles for high-quality climate services based on a comprehensive literature review. Key elements of such guiding principles are that climate services should be science-based, user-centred, designed with transparent and collaborative processes, delivered in a timely and accessible fashion, and for public services also sustainable and equitable. This assessment was made through the analysis of a logic model based on input, process, output, outcome, in which the process for the field of climate services should be a co-production process. Due to the broad landscape of the climate service market and the variety of demands on climate services, the quality of climate services depends on many factors and there can be no "one size fits all" solution. Thus, further discussions about which parts of a climate service can be standardised and certified will at least partly be related to common (quality) features that can be identified in the market of climate services and state-of-the-art science for climate services. Throughout the project, this set of guiding principles will be revisited and refined within CE2 through community engagement by case studies, surveys and interviews with providers and users of climate services throughout the broad range of components of the climate service market.

Keywords

Climate services, high-quality, guiding principles, standardisation and literature review



1 Introduction

According to the European Commission (EU, 2015) climate services encompass "the transformation of climate-related data, together with other relevant information, into customised products such as projections, forecasts, information, trends, economic analysis, assessments (including technology assessment), counselling on best practices, development and evaluation of solutions and any other service in relation to climate that may be of use for the society at large". In Climateurope2 (CE2) (Deliverable D1.3), a slightly modified definition is under discussion within the project consortium: "The provision of climate information usually in combination with non-climate information and knowledge in such a way as to assist decision makers. The service component involves a demand-driven approach, appropriate engagement with the decision makers, an effective access mechanism and responsiveness to user-needs".

Climate services (CS) have gained considerable importance over the last 10-15 years. These services originated from products derived from medium-range weather and seasonal climate forecasts and were particularly useful for agricultural applications, e.g., for efficient irrigation planning, pest control, etc. (see Vaughan and Dessai, 2014 for a historical background of climate services). As the quality of these forecasts is constantly improving this has led to greater confidence and trust in the products among the users. In this part of the climate service market, which was originally dominated by publicly financed providers, nowadays a larger number of private providers are present. Nevertheless, many of these providers are often relying on data from National Hydrometeorological Services (NHMS) or Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S) as the basis for their products (see: https://climate.copernicus.eu/sites/default/files/2022-08/ECMWF_C3S_06072022.pdf for a report on the use of C3S service).

In recent years, the market for climate services has rapidly expanded (Larosa & Mysiak, 2019; Cortekar et al., 2020; Le at al., 2020; Buontempo et al., 2022) as data from high-resolution model experiments and long-term climate simulations became available. They provide the basis for climate services on regional and local levels e.g., for climate change adaptation and mitigation, and/or risk assessments for various sectors (e.g., urban planning, forestry, energy supply, etc.). Furthermore, national and EU-wide regulations for the implementation of sustainable energy use or climate adaptation measures are creating new business sectors for climate services, which are increasingly also being covered by private providers.

Thus, the market for climate services is becoming increasingly larger, more complex and crowded, especially for users (e.g., Bessembinder et al., 2019; Bruno Soares & Buontempo, 2019). It is increasingly unclear for users to understand what climate services are available, which providers supply which products, whether these products can be intercompared, how good is the quality of the service, which providers and products are trustworthy.

Bremer et al. (2021) wrote: "Climate services, and research on climate services, have mutually developed over the past 20 years, with quality assessment a central issue for orienting both practitioners

Climateurope2

and researchers. However, quality assessment is becoming more complex as the field evolves, the range and types of climate services expands".

Thus, one of the key questions Bremer et al. (2021) stated is: "How can we comprehensively identify the characteristics associated with a climate service which determine its quality for particular functions in a particular context?"



Figure 1: The essence of climate services. Source: European Commission, 2015.

The European Commission (2015) (see Figure 1) stated in the European research and innovation roadmap for climate services: "The enhancing the quality and relevance of climate services challenge seeks to engage users, providers, purveyors and researchers to identify and provide through co-design, co-development and co-evaluation the improvements and innovations in climate services that are needed to better inform decision-making processes and the resulting decisions". Brasseur and Gallardo (2016) identified "five conditions for climate services to be successful:

(1) the activities and elements of a climate service should be user-centric;

(2) the climate service function should be supported by active research;

(3) advanced information (including predictions) on a variety of space and time scales is required to serve national needs;

Climateurope2

(4) the climate services knowledge base requires active stewardship; and

(5) climate services require active and well-defined participation by government, business, organised civil society, and academia."

Hewitt et al. (2021a) made nine recommendations for future research priorities for climate modelling and climate services. Regarding climate services the authors recommended that high quality climate services required:

1) understanding requirements, decision-making and foresight,

2) innovate and enhance diffusion of information,

3) assess the value of climate services,

4) set standards for climate services and overall strengthen the links between climate modelling and climate service communities.

Major issues with the use of climate services are still deficits for instance in mutual understanding between providers and users, lack of trust, or problems with accessibility and sustainability. Although there are many ideals for successful climate services other literature findings have pointed out that the production and delivery of climate services are still primarily considered a natural science endeavour, even though the use of climate information is primarily a social science problem (e.g., Findlater et al., 2021; Máñez Costa et al., 2021; Steuri et al., 2022). Swart et al. (2021) addressed the so-called "valley of death" between providers and users. The authors stated that "value chains are often still underdeveloped and public providers with strong roots in upstream climate services attempt to reach downstream users without properly contemplated business models to do so".

Bruno Soares et al. (2018) investigated the use of climate information across different economic sectors. They came to the conclusion that in order to increase the use and uptake of climate information a number of barriers have to be addressed and promoted such as: "i) better understanding of climate information, including its parameters, limitations and scientific uncertainty; ii) improve coordination and standardisation across fragmented sources of climate information and accessibility; and iii) address current gaps in information provision". Guentchev et al. (2023) investigated the upscaling of CS as they "rarely make the transition from prototype to fully-fledged, transferrable and/or repeatable climate services."

Recently a number of EU-funded projects have been trying to provide more orientation in this area for users as well as for providers. Within the framework of the MARCO (EU-MARCO, 2018), EU-MACS (EU-MACS, 2018) and Climateurope (Climateurope, 2017; Hewitt et al., 2017a; Hewitt et al., 2021b; Cortekar et al., 2020) projects, the market structures, potentials and developments were examined in detail.

The need to improve climate services has recently been addressed by the Fast Track Action Committee on Climate Services of the US National Science and Technology Council (NSTC) in the Federal Framework and Action Plan for Climate Services (NSTC, 2023) that contains a number of recommendations addressing the need for a more coherent strategy for climate services in the US. In the UK, the Climate Resilience Programme (UKCRP, 2022) defined fundamental principles, requirements and guidelines for climate services.

The aim of the Climateurope2 project (www.climateurope2.eu), beyond the strengthening of the climate service community in Europe, is to address the question of whether and for which parts of climate services quality criteria and standards can be defined in order to ensure higher uptake of CS through better and higher quality of the products. Based on a continuous analysis of the market for climate services, its development and potentials, quality criteria and standards are to be defined and expanded on the basis of existing structures.

Work Package 4 on "Market Development" of CE2 is concerned with the continuous monitoring of the market for climate services across all sectors (Task 4.1), facilitating market development (Task 4.2 and 4.4) and with the definition of standardised guiding principles for high-quality climate services (Task 4.3). In this deliverable the first attempt for these guiding principles is presented on the basis of an extensive literature research. In the course of the project, these guiding principles will be further refined and updated through community engagement, case studies, surveys and interviews with providers as well as users of CS.

The guiding principles for high-quality CS are being developed as a prerequisite for future standardisation, certification and labelling (Work Package 1). By defining quality factors for climate services, this process serves as a background information for future standardisation approaches. The guiding principles will also support other Work Packages of Climateurope2, such as Data & Processes (WP2), Business Innovation (WP3), Market Development (WP4) and Policy Support of CS (WP5).

The assessment of high-quality criteria and indicators is structured and defined along a value chain of CS, i.e., 1) input to the development of a climate service, 2) the co-production process, 3) output (characteristics of the CS as such), and 4) outcome (whether and how the climate service is used).

Based on these first results, recommendations for standards and guiding principles for high-quality CS will be exchanged and iteratively developed in order to create a broad consensus within the communities involved and to contribute to more trust and transparency. This deliverable can already build on an initial assessment on the existing landscape of initiatives and standardisation norms and approaches (Deliverable 1.1) and the draft framework (Milestone 1.1) of Climateurope2.

Climateurope2

1.1 Objectives of the work

Task 4.3 of the CE2 proposal provides the objectives and concept for this deliverable:

To increase trust and transparency in CS, this task will elaborate on guiding principles for high-quality CS as a prerequisite for future standardisation, certification and labelling. These elements will be clustered in four categories associated with climate services: 1) inputs to develop a climate service, 2) the co-design process, 3) output (characteristics of the CS as such), and 4) outcome (if and how the climate service is used).

As a result, the initial recommendations for standards and guiding principles for high-quality CS formulated in this deliverable will be shared with the CS community and then further developed iteratively to build a broad consensus within the communities involved and, thus, contribute to increase trust and transparency in CS.

These activities will be also linked to other tasks within CE2 such as Task 1.4 (Setting ground for standardising climate services), Task 2.3 (Verification) and Task 2.4 (Uncertainty and climate risk assessment) to ensure the traceability of CS and to feed into the development of a pre-standardisation process and the evaluation of future options for certification and labelling that will be performed in WP1.

1.2 Structure of this report

The report is divided into four sections. Following this introduction, Section 2 describes the concept and methodology for literature review on elements of high-quality climate services. Section 3 summarises the findings and discusses the results. Section 4 provides an overall summary and outlook to the next steps to be taken within this task of the Climateurope2 project.



2 Concept & Method

2.1 Definitions

What does "high-quality" mean in the context of climate services?

In Climateurope2, a number of fundamental terms and expressions were discussed within the consortium in order to reach common understanding and consensus. This is part of a basic framework described in the Deliverable 1.2 of CE2. A part of these discussions was also focused on the term highquality climate service. An initial suggestion for a definition on the term high-quality climate service resulting from these discussions resulted in: "High-quality climate services shall fulfil a number of qualitative criteria and / or quantitative measures (well) above average." This is of course a very general statement with very limited explanatory power as whatever "average" is has to be defined and must reflect the qualitative and quantitative informational needs of the user community.

Furthermore, it was agreed that detailed criteria should be clustered along the complete value chain required for the development of a climate service. Elements of this value chain are **input** (e.g., data), a joint **co-production process** (user/provider interaction) to develop a climate service, **output** (the product as such) and **outcome** (usage of the CS). These categories, following the so-called "Logic-model" (OECD, 2002; Frechtling, 2015; Wall et al., 2017) (see Figure 2) were formulated in the CE2 proposal and origin from project management. Many evaluation approaches use this model, be it explicit or implicit (Schuck-Zöller et al., 2018; Bremer et al., 2021).



Figure 2: Conceptual diagram of the logic model for process management (modified from <u>https://learningforsustainability.net/logic-models/</u>)

In addition, assessment and evaluation of quality always depends on the demands and requirements of the users of climate information. For example, for a farmer a 70% probability of a seasonal rain forecast might not be sufficient for decision making whereas in urban planning this can be a sufficient threshold for water management planning. Nevertheless, all users rely on understandable and user-friendly information they can trust. Building of trust is of particular importance and can be a complex,

Climateurope2

demanding and fragile process that needs often more time than expected (e.g. Stern and Coleman, 2014; <u>https://theclimatecommsproject.org/trust-and-its-role-in-climate-change-communication/</u>).

Thus, elements like accuracy and reliability, tailoring to user needs, easy-to-use as well as credibility, accessibility and timeliness are important quality elements although different weighted following the related project objectives.

Based on these initial definitions and guidelines a comprehensive review of existing literature was performed to develop the first set of guiding principles for high-quality climate services. It is a qualitative and not a quantitative assessment but building on a large and comprehensive knowledge base. Nevertheless, gaps and uncertainties of this initial assessment are identified which will be further addressed during the lifetime of the Climateurope2 project.

2.2 Method

As the market for climate services emerged rapidly over the past decade or so (Cortekar et al., 2020; Le at al., 2020; Buontempo et al., 2022), the potential and performance of climate services have been discussed in the scientific literature quite extensively. Thus, these publications provide a sound basis to investigate and define a first set of guiding principles for high-quality climate services.



Figure 3: Topics covered by the literature review

The comprehensive literature and desk review of this study comprises a large set of overview and specific case study papers across the broad spectrum of climate services. In total, more than 100 papers (see Section 5) were included. Selection criteria for including papers in the review were **a**) **overview and review papers about climate services with respect to quality aspects** (noted "general" in Figure 3), **b**) **articles covering the different segments of the complete value chain of CS** (input, the co-

production process, output, and outcome/impact) (noted "segments" in Figure 3) and **c) examples across different application sectors, products, providers and users of climate services** (noted "case studies" in Figure 3).

Commonalities as well as differences e.g., through the broad range of providers, products and users that have fundamentally different intentions and requirements were taken into account.

Nevertheless, the scientific literature has a bias towards public climate services due to the fact that the CS market is for many sectors still dominated by public funded activities or the private sector activities are not publicly displayed (Keele, 2019, Bruno Soares et. al., 2018; Tart et al., 2020; Larosa & Mysiak, 2020; Rubio-Martin et al., 2021). Thus, this literature review is a first step towards a more comprehensive assessment of high-quality elements of climate services. Throughout the lifetime of the CE2 project, the guiding principles will be refined using detailed case studies and community engagement through interviews, surveys and workshops.

Therefore, this first approach starts with a lower level of granularity and will be updated towards a more detailed and differentiated view throughout the project.



3 Results

According to the Task 4.3 of the Climateurope2 project (see section 2.1) the assessment for the guiding principles for high-quality climate services should be clustered in four categories following approaches in the scientific literature according to the Logic-Model approach (OECD, 2002, Frechtling, 2015, Schuck-Zöller et al., 2017, Wall et al., 2017) (see Figure 2: 1) **input** to the development of a climate service, 2) the **co-production process**, 3) **output** (characteristics of the CS as such), and 4) **outcome** (whether and how the climate service is used).

As these categories have to take into account the widespread landscape of climate services, we will initially discuss the different component of the CS landscape and the relationships to quality issues. This will then be followed by above-mentioned segments of the CS value chain.

3.1 Landscape of Climate Service

As mentioned earlier, the landscape of climate services has developed rapidly during the past decade. Here we will briefly review and discuss the landscape of climate services and players involved before starting with an analysis and assessment of quality factors of climate services based on the value chain of CS. A more in-depth review of the climate service market will be performed in Task 4.1 of CE2 and shared in Deliverable 4.2 (M14).

The landscape of climate services and players involved can be illustrated by the following three categories (see Figure 4):

- 1. Providers: Public, private, profit and non-profit actors
- 2. CS types and products: From publicly available product to custom designed application for specific users
- 3. Users: From individual customer to broad public

3.1.1 Providers: Public, private, profit and non-profit actors

Originally, climate services evolved mainly out of the public funded sector, i.e., NHMS, research organisations and universities (e.g., Cortekar et al., 2020; Le at al., 2020; Buontempo et al., 2022). Seasonal to interannual predictions but also climate projections built the basis for a variety of different products applied in various sectors such as agriculture, energy and water, etc. (e.g., Vaughan et al., 2018). Although the public sector is still dominating (Bruno Soares, 2018), more and more services are developed out of the private / commercial sector (e.g., industry, consultancy, SMEs and start-ups) and

provide for instance specific consultancy services for the agricultural applications sector, or risk assessments products for the financial and critical infrastructure sector.



Figure 4. Landscape of Climate Services

Assessments within the MARCO project (EU-MARCO, 2018; Cortekar et al., 2020) suggested the following categories of the climate service provider landscape:

- National meteorological services (or extensions thereof)
- Public climate service centres
- Universities or research-performing organisations

Climateurope2

- Non-profit-organisations
- Industry / professional bodies (e.g., chamber of commerce, intl. organizations)
- Public administration / politics
- Industry / large companies
- Small and medium-sized enterprises
- Start-ups

Note, that also other typologies are discussed in the literature (e.g., Clements et al., 2013; Bessembinder et al., 2019; Vischer et al., 2020).

A major difference between the commercial vs. the public sector is that public providers (and some private non-profit ones) are mostly non-profit oriented. Public providers either receive funding project based (mostly time limited) or allocate a budget for the development of a climate service. Such projects are advantageous for the development of pilot or prototype studies, but are often limited to the duration of the project and therefore fail to deliver the long-term, sustainable provision of a CS (Bruno Soares & Buontempo, 2019). As profit-oriented organisations, commercial oriented providers only develop services that are economically feasible. This might be of disadvantage with respect to new, experimental prototype developments, however a service will be sustained as long as market perspectives are positive and promising. Further differences between public and commercial providers will be discussed in the context of input and co-production of a CS (see sections 3.2 & 3.3).

In summary, the provider plays a crucial role in the development of climate services. Scientific expertise, data quality and product development, and sustainability of the product highly rely on the provider side. In order to build confidence and trust, elements like a specific (quality) certification of providers may provide guidance for users of CS.

3.1.2 CS Types and Products: From publicly available product to custom designed application for specific users

The range of climate service types and products (e.g., see Climateurope, 2017; Hewitt et al., 2017a, EU-MARCO, 2018; Cortekar et al., 2020) is widespread from publicly available information and products to custom designed applications for specific user(s). The types of climate services suggested by EU-MARCO (2018) are given in Table 1.



Table 1: Types of Climate services (EU-MARCO, 2018, Cortekar et al., 2020)

Туре	Description
Measurements	Instruments and technologies for measurement and calibration.
Operations	Collection and provision of raw data
Modelling	Modelling of data, both certified and non-certified
Data Manage- ment	Provision of calibrated data sets, data archiving, data certification and data sales
Processing & Re- Analysis	Provision of data analysis and retrieval services including data mining tools
Advisory Services	Advisory services, risk assessment and decision support tools provided to public and private sector organizations
Other Consulting	Consulting services not elsewhere covered
Publication	General publication of analysis findings

Further classification principles for CS types can for example include:

- temporal (e.g., seasonal, decadal, long-term scales),
- spatial (global, regional, local),
- accessibility (free, limited (available a limited period by subscription or fee), individual designed paid product) or
- a typology along application sectors (Bessembinder et al., 2019). On the latter point, there are various ways of dividing the market (sectoral division) (e.g., Cortekar et al., 2020; EU-MARCO, 2018; NACE (Nomenclature of Economic Activities)-codes: https://nacev2.com/en, see Figure 4).

Some climate services address only one or a subset of sectors (e.g., energy, urban planning or agriculture), while others are applicable across different sectors. This ultimately makes it difficult to derive quality criteria based on a specific CS typology.

The range of products developed by a specific type of climate service according to Table 1 is very broad: from seasonal rainfall advisories (e.g., <u>https://climate.copernicus.eu/seasonal-forecasts</u>, <u>https://www.cpc.ncep.noaa.gov/products/predictions/90day/</u>)</u>, web-based mapping tools (e.g., Soret et al., 2019), a freely available warning app for heat stress (e.g., Eggeling et al., 2022; Neset et al., 2021) to a consultation process designed for an individual city to adapt to climate change (e.g., Swart et al., 2021). See also Visscher et al. (2020) for a typology of CS divided into freely (or cheaply) available products vs. commercially ones (see also Table 4 in Section 3.4).

Quality criteria for the product itself have to address the product range of climate service applications in relationship to the intended users. Thus, the product quality also depends on the designated user. Does the product fit with the user's needs and requirements? How can the user determine the quality of a product?

Transparency, **easy-to-use** and **fit-for-purpose** are some key criteria with respect to the quality of CS products. Here, standards and certificates may play an important role for users of CS. See section 3.4 for further details.

3.1.3 Users: From individual customer to broad public

A "user" or "customer" (note, that both expressions are used interchangeable in this document) of a climate service can be almost anybody: politicians, policy and decision makers, scientists, commercial companies, journalists, and the general public (both informed individuals and those with a limited scientific knowledge base). Furthermore, we distinguish intermediaries (purveyors) as intermediate users that play an increasingly important role in CS, as they are serving as translators and communicators like journalists in the media world. Baulenas et al. (2023) suggested a typology of user categories to guide user identification (see Table 2). Stakeholders using climate services can act on local, regional, national and international levels. Thus, products have to be carefully adjusted to the targeted user community.

Depending on the product type and format, a climate service application either reaches out to users through a tailored co-design, co-production and co-implementation process by the provider. Or, on the other hand, users are provided with a climate service product that can be used, e.g., through a freely available website, without any mandatory training or detailed explanations and instructions.

This broad range of potential users or customers of CS products sets up specific requirements to the planning and design of a CS. Thus, quality and success of a CS not only depend on the quality of data or the product itself but also how it is perceived and used. A product used by the wrong person or in the wrong context can lead to consequences and decisions not expected or desired by the providers. "One size does not fit all", thus, quality factors of input, co-production, output and outcome are not independent of the designated user community and context and have to be defined by taking the whole value chain for a specific CS into account.

Table 2: Proposition of user categories with typologies to guide user identification (from Baulenaset. al, 2023)

Categories	Types
Policymaker	Local, subnational, national, and supranational level
Governmental body	Environmental and conservation agencies, climate change offices, and funding agencies
Resource manager (public)	Local, regional, and national authorities or resource authorities (e.g., river basin management authorities), public utilities, and resource suppliers
Resource manager (private)	Landowner associations, professionals, mediators, and practitioners
Data-related stakeholder	Data provision, supplier, purveyor, developers, and manager
Civil society/community rep- resentatives	Citizen associations, local communities (hybrid), consumer associa- tions, citizen representatives, social movements, and youth repre- sentatives
NGOs and foundations	Local, regional, and national NGOs
Private sector	Companies, industry representatives, and associations
Networks	Transnational networks, global initiatives, and umbrella organiza- tions
Media	Journalists and specialized media
Other	Non-project-related scientists, technologists (vendors, computing centers, etc.), and experts; educators

Climateurope2

3.2 Input for the development of a climate service

An important basis for a climate service is (climate) data, which can originate from observations, model experiments or statistical analyses. Depending on the scope, resolution and quality of the model or method used, this basis can vary greatly in quality and is per se not suitable for every application, i.e., data depends on the context for which it is used. For the user it is often not clear and transparent to judge whether this basis, a climate service is designed and built upon, is really suitable for the application, i.e., good enough in terms of data quality and trustworthy (Zahid et al., 2020). This section focuses primarily on climate data. Nevertheless, many climate services use and/or incorporate other data (e.g., technical, economical, or social parameters) to their products. In principle, rules and indicators formulated in this section should also be applied for these non-climate datasets and information if they are part of the climate service product.

What measures can help on the input/data side to increase quality, transparency and trust?

Apart from data quality, a clear and understandable description of the data for the user, including uncertainties and limitations is required. For example, when using model data from a coarse-resolution global model or observation data in data-poor areas, the limited value when applied on a regional or local scale should be pointed out clearly as well as systematic model errors or measurement inaccuracies. Uncertainties and limitations of data are very important elements and crucial for building trust and acceptance on the user side. If users do not understand or misunderstand these information, decisions made could be wrong and trust in the products might be lost (https://theclimatecommsproject.org/trust-and-its-role-in-climate-change-communication/). Ultimately, however, it is up to the provider to use the best available data for the service and/or to clearly point out the corresponding limitations and uncertainties to the user.

For this category, the input / data side, Wilkinson et al. (2016) formulated the so-called FAIR principles. FAIR stands for: Findability, Accessibility, Interoperability, and Reusability. For details of the FAIR principles see Table 3 below.

Principle	Elements
To be Findable	 F1. (meta)data are assigned a globally unique and persistent identifier F2. data are described with rich metadata (defined by R1 below) F3. metadata clearly and explicitly include the identifier of the data it describes F4. (meta)data are registered or indexed in a searchable resource

Table 3. FAIR principles (from Wilkinson et al., 2016)

Climateurope2

Principle	Elements		
To be Accessible	 A1. (meta)data are retrievable by their identifier using a standard-ized communications protocol A1.1 the protocol is open, free, and universally implementable A1.2 the protocol allows for an authentication and authorization procedure, where necessary A2. metadata are accessible, even when the data are no longer available 		
To be Interoperable	 I1. (meta)data use a formal, accessible, shared, and broadly applicable language for knowledge representation. I2. (meta)data use vocabularies that follow FAIR principles I3. (meta)data include qualified references to other (meta)data 		
To be Reusable	 R1. meta(data) are richly described with a plurality of accurate and relevant attributes R1.1. (meta)data are released with a clear and accessible data usage license R1.2. (meta)data are associated with detailed provenance R1.3. (meta)data meet domain-relevant community standards 		

Clear, comprehensible and good documentation is therefore a fundamental prerequisite for high-quality climate services. However, it is also important that the data used is suitable for the application to be developed from it. This "fit-for-purpose" issue is usually difficult for the user to judge, thus, the provider of the climate service has a special responsibility to fulfil this criterion.

Studies by the Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S) (Buontempo et al., 2020) aim to improve the transfer of data into high quality usable products. Through the sectoral information system, C3S demonstrated successfully how the data infrastructure can be used to address specific user needs for different sectors (see <u>https://climate.copernicus.eu/data-action</u> for examples).

Climate data providers such as NHMS, and other public funded scientific organisations are already addressing **quality management** and **quality assurance** in a very comprehensive way. Some examples are:

- 1. Copernicus Climate Data Store: <u>https://climate.copernicus.eu/quality-assurance-climate-data-</u> <u>store</u> (see Figure 5)
- 2. Quality Management Framework for Climate Data Sets (Lacagnina et al., 2022)

Climateurope2

- 3. Climate Forecast Metadata Conventions: http://cfconventions.org/index.html
- 4. WMO Climate Data Management Systems <u>https://community.wmo.int/en/climate-data-man-agement-systems-cdmss</u>
- 5. German Weather Service (Kaspar et al., 2013 and <u>https://www.dwd.de/EN/climate_environ-ment/climatemonitoring/climatedatamanagement/qualityassurance/quali.html</u>
- 6. German Climate Computing Center: <u>https://www.dkrz.de/up/services/data-distribution/data-publication/quality-assurance-of-data</u>
- 7. Climate Data Online (of NOAA) https://www.ncei.noaa.gov/cdo-web/

Independent Fully traceable Replicable Transparent to the users					
Basic Check Independent check on resolution Dataset Completeness	Dataset Maturity Independent maturity assessment Implement and adapt EU-framework Quality functions and methods	<section-header></section-header>	Summary for the User User Guidance (Application Matrix): Coseness of Datasets to User		
Open source software for reproducibility & versioning					
Erren			Cinate Charge Service divinte representative		

Figure 5. Assessment procedure of Copernicus Evaluation and Quality control

Climate services are often not developed by the main data provider (e.g., NHMS or research institution) but by intermediaries or commercial providers who use the data from the primary data producers as the basis for the climate service product. Even though the documentation of the data, etc. is available to these intermediaries, some of the primary expertise on the data might get lost or data might get modified in this part of the process. Thus, in order to keep the process transparent for the user, all steps from the data source to the product should be documented and be understandable and comprehensible for the user.

The input/data part of a climate service offers options for standardisation within the framework of Climateurope2. Here, Deliverable 1.1 of Climateurope2 "Current landscape of initiatives and standardisation norms and approaches" (Climateurope2, 2023) and the "Guidelines on Quality Management in Climate Services" of WMO (WMO, 2018b) provide a found basis.



Figure 6: Summary of important criteria and indicators with respect to the input for a CS

In summary, frequently mentioned criteria & indicators for the (data) input of CS (see Figure 6) are:

- Degree of innovation:
 - Use of state-of-the-art models and methods
- Accuracy and reliability -> Transparency & Trust
 - Up-to-date high-quality data
 - o (Meta)data are compliant with FAIR principles
 - Data conform with (international) standards
 - o Uncertainties / error margins of the data are known and documented
- Credibility, legitimacy & traceability -> Transparency & Trust
 - Data source and methods well documented and published
 - Data basis and modifications are documented and comprehensible to the user
- Availability
 - Data freely available and easily accessible
- Tailored to user needs -> Appropriateness
 - \circ $\;$ Data basis suitable to address the problem / task $\;$

Climateurope2

3.3 The Co-production Process

The interaction between providers and users in the development and design of a climate service is an essential part to ensure success and envisaged impact. Hewitt et al. (2017b) stated that there is growing recognition that the interface between the users and providers is the least-developed aspect of climate service and has to be improved. Hewitt and Stone (2021) (see also Figure 7) stated: "Through a consideration of the value chain for climate services, we emphasise the importance of dialogue and collaboration between those developing, providing and using climate information in decision-making, and stress that a climate service is only worth delivering if it is going to be used by someone to influence an outcome. Co-production can be highly useful for enabling the dialogue and collaborating across the value chain, helping create services based on credible, salient and legitimate knowledge.". Stegmaier et al. (2020) pointed out that "success or failure of climate services will be determined by the ability to view and practically embed users as integral partners in the co-construction of climate services rather than treating them as 'external factors'".



Figure 7. Value chain of CS. (from Hewitt and Stone, 2021).

The co-production process, which has already been discussed in detail in the literature, offers a multitude of facets and options. In the following a number of co-production approaches are introduced and displayed (e.g., see Miller and Wyborn, 2020 for a historical review, Dressel, 2022 for a review on science-society interaction models, Máñez Costa et al. (2021) for a review based on ERA4CS projects and Djenontin & Medow (2018) for a review on international practise).

Climateurope2

Here some other co-production ideas & approaches from the literature:

- Mauser et al. (2013) (Figure 8) proposed a framework for interdisciplinary and transdisciplinary co-creation of a "knowledge castle"
- Bojovic et al. (2021) (Figure 9) and Terrado et al. (2023a) proposed a co-production framework which comprises three realms: (i) engagement using various communication channels; (ii) involvement through interviews, workshops and webinars; and (iii) empowerment of stakeholders and scientists through focused relationships.
- Bremer and Meisch (2017) and Bremer et al. (2019) (Figure 10) suggested a fresh look on coproduction as a process best examined simultaneously from several complimentary perspectives, with reference to recent work re-conceptualising co-production as an eight-sided "prism".
- Schuck-Zöller et al. (2022) suggested five principles: 1. common ground, 2. transparency, 3. professionalism, 4. enhancement of applicability and 5. theoretical and empirical foundation for a successful co-creation process.
- Carter et al. (2019) defined 10 principles for good co-production of an application in Africa with the following elements: 1. Tailor to context & decision, 2. Deliver timely & sustainable service, 3. Building trust, 4. Embrace diversity & respect differences, 5. Enhance inclusivity, 6. Keep flexible, 7. Support conscious facilitation, 8. Communicate in accessible ways, 9. Ensure value-add for all involved, and 10. Improve transparency of forecast accuracy and certainty.
- Vogel et al. (2019) and Grossi and Dinku (2022) used a 4-pillar concept for the co-development of a CS (Figure 11, adopted from IRI), based on continuous interaction between providers and users.
- Chambers et al. (2021) proposed 6 modes of co-production through a global analysis of 32 initiatives: (1) researching solutions; (2) empowering voices; (3) brokering power; (4) reframing power; (5) navigating differences and (6) reframing agency.
- Hewitt et al. (2020) (Figure 12) applied a concept with five stages (explore, exploit, expose, examine, expand) of co-development of a climate service prototype in China.
- Norström et al. (2020) (Figure 13) proposed a set of four general principles that underlie highquality knowledge co-production for sustainability research: a) context-based, b) pluralistic, c) goal-oriented and d) interactive.
- Daniels et al. (2020) introduced a framework for co-designing "transdisciplinary knowledge integration processes" to build climate resilience and Stegnor et al. (2020) emphasized the need for a greater focus and value to be placed on the process elements of transdisciplinary coproduction.
- Vincent et al. (2018) (Figure 14) suggested that a co-produced climate service product should be decision-driven, process-based and time-managed.
- Williams and Jacob (2021) (Figure 15) proposed an 8-step integrated approach of co-development of CS in the context of citizen science.

• The Climate Service Center Germany (Gerics, <u>https://www.gerics.de/methods/prduct_devel-opment/index.php.en</u>) has set up a co-development process for the design of prototype CS with continuous user-provider interaction.



Figure 8. Framework for interdisciplinary and transdisciplinary co-creation of the knowledge castle (from Mauser et al., 2013).



Figure 9. Co-production framework (from Bojovic et al., 2021). The framework engages stakeholders by raising awareness through different communication tools (the *engagement* realm). It then involves stakeholders in knowledge exchange and co-learning, using various participatory approaches (the *involvement* realm). Finally, it empowers users of climate services, who take part in their co-development (the *empowerment* realm).

Climateurope2



Figure 10. Co-production prism (from Bremer et al, 2019). The authors suggest a fresh look on coproduction as a process best examined simultaneously from several complimentary perspectives, with reference to recent work reconceptualising co-production as an eight-sided 'prism.



Figure 11. 4-pillars of CS (from <u>https://iri.columbia.edu/actoday/</u>, see also Vogel et al., 2019, Grossi & Dinku, 2022). Co-production is foundational for both locally led and locally owned climate services and important for ensuring climate services are both useful and usable.

Climateurope2



Figure 12: Concept of five stages of development of a climate service prototype (from Hewitt et al., 2020).



Figure 13: Principles for knowledge co-production in sustainable research (from Norström et al., 2020)





Figure 14. Co-production cycle (from Vincent et al., 2018)



Figure 15. An eight-step sequential process, responding to the need for integrating citizen science and vernacular knowledge for inclusive climate service provision (from Williams and Jacob, 2021).

A vital co-production process can avoid failures in the creation of a CS (e.g., Kolstad et al. (2019) for a critical assessment of a case study) and it is characterised by a constant exchange with (potential) user groups (e.g., Hewitt et al. (2020), Terrado et al. (2023b), Blair et al. (2022), Rubio-Martin et al. (2023)) right from the beginning. The user group is involved as continuously as possible in the process, from creation to test phases to the final product. Through continuous dialogue, the product can be optimally adapted to the user's needs. This ensures mutual transparency and trust.

The exchange and transfer of information within a co-production process would be done by a "neutral" moderator who can also ensure a common and understandable language for all participants. Suhari et al. (2022) call it a boundary manager who serves as a mediator between a CS provider and a user community. In this way, problems of misunderstanding could be effectively encountered.

Climateurope2

Buontempo et al. (2018) stated that the interaction with the users during the development of a climate service cannot be sporadic and cannot simply occur at the beginning (e.g., service definition) and at the end (e.g., service evaluation) of the service development.

Furthermore, the process of co-producing a climate service should be inclusive, collaborative and flexible. Martinez et al. (2022) pointed out that "when co-designing climate services, it is vital to understand users' needs, based on their values and experiences with climate and weather and to seek ways to influence, alter and change them".

Blair et al. (2022) stated: "Our results showed that both users and producers emphasise the importance of producer reputation, trial period, peer-recommendation, co-production with users, user-friendly design, consistent terminology and ensuring that users are aware of the full range of already available products." This is supported by Barnet et al. (2021): "Research demonstrates that stakeholder participation in the production of CS is a necessary condition for the successful implementation of CS, and effective user engagement in the co-production of climate services is critical to guarantee its value and impact (e.g., Vincent et al., 2018; Bremer et al., 2021; Vollstedt et al., 2021, Georgi et al., 2016). User-provider engagement is one of the most fundamental activities in the preparation, development and application of climate information for decision-making. In addition, the collaboration between decision makers, climate scientists and specialised academics offers an opportunity to leverage the expertise of all parties to better serve the problem-solving process (Briley et al., 2015; Golding et al., 2017)".

However, the resources in terms of time, personnel and funds required for the co-creation-design and implementation of a service is often a limiting factor, in particular on the user side. Condon (2023) cited a mayor of a small Alabama town on the Gulf of Mexico: "I don't have a big planning staff or any resources. So how can I even know the size of the threats we are facing, and what can I do to protect the people of my town?" Bruno Soares and Buontempo (2019) stated that although co-production has become somewhat of a pre-condition in climate services, depending on the aim and purpose of the service it can be more productive and effective not to implement such a process, (e.g., general products available through a NMHS website). WMO (2018a) stated that the level of engagement will vary depending on the use of the service and should be determined by the users' needs. They distinguish three categories: (i) websites and web-based tools; (ii) interactive group activities; and (iii) focused relation-ships between a provider and a user. Within these categories the user involvement can range between passive to active.

Wilby and Lu (2022) point out that the user willingness and ability to play an active role in co-development and production processes can be quite diverse, from "off-the-peg" customers to very individual and active ones. Thus, they claim that therefore "providers should allocate time and resources to deepen their understanding of what really matters, better communicate key risks and uncertainties, develop more practical advice, improve sectoral knowledge and find ways to maximise the legacy/impact of their services". Biswas et al. (2022) investigated in a literature review why urban water organisations are still lacking climate change adaptation in their water security management and planning,

the key barriers and how they could be solved and enabled. "Lack of support from stakeholders, lack of holistic guidelines and ambiguous policy frameworks were identified as the most critical barriers", the authors stated.

Máñez Costa et al. (2021) analysed co-production processes in 26 ERA4CS projects and identified three levels of intensity of engagement: 1) Low level of intensity: users take up the information from science 2) Balanced level of intensity: mutual influences from science and practice, 3) High level of intensity: Ownership is given to the users in practice (see also Figure 16).



Figure 16: The correlation between co-design and levels of engagement intensity observed in the ERA4CS projects (from Máñez Costa et al., 2021)

WMO's Guidance on Good Practices for Climate Services User Engagement (WMO, 2018a) also categorises the different levels of user interfaces for CS from a more passive to active user engagement (s. Figure 17).





Figure 17: The different levels of user interfaces for climate services (from WMO, 2018a)

Hermansen et al. (2021) summarises four key lessons learnt from engagement in climate services research projects: "i) all end-users have pre-established decision-making processes and tools for their purposes, hence all new information needs to be adapted, ii) one size fits none – and tailoring takes

Climateurope2

time, iii) building trust between different actors, processes and confidence in new information is key in the tailoring process – and resource-demanding, iv) purveyors and intermediaries can facilitate tailoring processes but need to finance their activities until end-users demonstrate willingness to pay and/or the climate service is readily implemented". The authors stated that more attention needs to be paid to the demand-side of climate services to help viable climate services make it through the innovation "valley of death" (see also Section 3.5).

In summary, almost all co-production models discussed in the literature start the interaction with the users of climate services at the very beginning of the process. Either the question that such a service is supposed to answer is posed directly by the user to the provider or the provider involves possible users of such a service from the beginning in order to create the best possible product.

Most of the literature on co-production focuses on CS designed by public providers. Nevertheless, there are differences in the development of a CS between public and private providers as illustrated in Figure 18. Regardless of the kind of provider, the first consideration within the development of a CS will address the question: which product could be useful for whom, in order to create value (financial or economic but also social or societal values) for the user.

Further differences between public and commercial providers occur during the planning and development phase, as not every approach to create a climate service will be successful. In Figure 18, a number of decisions throughout the development process of a CS may lead into an "exit-strategy", e.g., either due to the lack of a market or of (financial) resources or an incompatible or unsolvable problem. A service provider as an honest broker of climate information will (should) not develop or release a product which is not reliable or fit-for-purpose. Not applying this rule will lead to a loss of trust and credibility for the provider but possibly also to the whole community.

In addition, for commercial (private) providers, the co-production / participation procedure will likely have a different character than for publicly funded providers. Especially with regard to transparency, a commercial provider will not (be able to) disclose all details (Keele, 2019, Condon, 2023), for example, if it is a software product that is not created specifically for an individual customer (-> e.g., products of the start-up Repath (https://repath.earth). On the other hand, Condon (2023) stated that "without transparency behind both data and methods, an end-user cannot properly evaluate the right application of climate risk tools." Máñez Costa et al. (2021) stated that the principles of knowledge co-production are alike if not more relevant for private sector providers because the creation of a useful and used service is the basis for economic success of any private sector concern.

Webber & Donner (2017) argue "that a shift away from the commercialised model of climate services may be necessary to ensure the creation, and consistent delivery, of products that practitioners in the developing world are able to employ in making adaptation decisions."



CS Development Workflow

Figure 18: Conceptual diagram of a development workflow for a CS of user (left) or provider initiated (right) CS, and further distinguishing between a public and private / commercial CS.

Climateurope2

The co-production process does not end with the completion of the product. User feedback and evaluation should lead to a continuous further development of the service. Ideally, the provider also supports the user in the implementation of the changes announced by the climate service. Boon et al. (2022) commented: "Studies that assess the results of climate services tend to focus on evaluating (perceived) usability, though uptake, impacts and outcomes of services are rarely assessed systematically". Englund et al. (2022) proposed four methodological guidelines to evaluate co-produced climate services: "(i) engaging in adaptive learning by applying developmental evaluation practices, (ii) building and refining a theory of change, (iii) involving stakeholders using participatory evaluation methods, and (iv) combining different data collection methods that incorporate visual products".

Vaughan et al. (2019) summarises evaluation procedures in various case studies and recommended a three-phase approach to evaluation, beginning with "(1) rigorous efforts to understand who accesses their information; developing (2) a nuanced understanding of how that information is used; and culminating with (3) a characterization of the utility and value of the information in context". Schuck-Zöller and Keup-Thiel (2018) provided a comprehensive list of criteria and indicators for the evaluation of output and outcome of CS (see sections 3.4 and 3.5).



Figure 19. Elements of a co-production process of a CS

Climateurope2

Figure 19summarises important criteria and indicators of a co-production process of a CS, based on the input of the above-mentioned literature. Along the three major criteria mentioned in Figure 19, high-quality co-production can be characterised by:

- Engagement
 - User participation from the beginning or a user-initiated process
 - Develop of a mutual understanding and communication between providers and users
- Involvement
 - Continuous exchange between user and provider
 - \circ $\;$ Joint testing of the climate service
- Empowerment
 - Feedback loop for improvements (Empowerment)
 - Evaluation of user behaviour and user satisfaction

Which parts of a co-production process have potential for standardisation? Most of the criteria are qualitative measures. Nevertheless, it should be further discussed whether and which key elements of a co-production process are required for a successful CS.

3.4 Output (characteristics of the climate service as such)

Climate service products and applications are developed on the basis of the input / data described in section 3.2 and ideally within a co-production process as discussed in section 3.3. The range of CS products is very broad, from general and freely available products, which do not address a specific clientele (e.g., a seasonal outlook), up to individual and specific applications developed together with/for a user. This latter option is in particular frequently found for applications from the private sector, e.g., by consulting companies but also in prototype services developed by specific research projects (e.g., Abegg et al., 2021, or the strategy of the Climate Service Center Germany: https://www.gerics.de/methods/prduct_development/index.php.en)).

Since the character of these applications can be very diverse, the market for climate services has become extremely broad and diversified within a very short time period and has thus also become very crowded and opaque, especially for users (Perrels et al., 2020). For an overview of the CS market and products see Section 3.1 and previous projects such as MARCO (EU-MARCO, 2018), EU-MACS (EU-MACS, 2018) and Climateurope (Climateurope, 2017; Hewitt et al., 2017a, Cortekar et al., 2020, Larosa & Mysiak, 2019).

Weichselgartner and Arheimer (2019) note that "It is ill-advised to believe that the success of climate services can be increased only through "more accurate data" or "better targeted information." Instead, what is important in the context of the product is its usability for the user/customer, i.e., ensuring the data that is available can be transformed into the necessary information that users need. A broad variety of products exists ranging from purely web-based information offerings, through interactive tools and apps, to individually designed applications and advisory services (see Fig. 19). Visscher et al. (2020)

Climateurope2

suggested a typology of CS divided into freely (or cheaply) available products vs. commercially ones (see Table 4).

Thus, usability of the product for the envisaged purpose and user is an important quality factor of the product. Is the targeted user / customer satisfied with the product? Ultimately, the use and satisfaction of the user/customer is of elementary importance. Only a service that is used and even recommended to others has evidence of high acceptance and can be regarded as a high-quality product. Hence, evaluations / assessments by users are of considerable importance (see section 3.3). For meaningful and comparable evaluations, it would be desirable to define a minimum standard for evaluations. DeGEval (2017), defined a set of major criteria for evaluation: usefulness, feasibility, fairness and accuracy, with detailed indicators for each of those criteria. (Note: publication in German only)

Furthermore, a high-quality product is also characterised by regular product maintenance, including updates and long-term availability. Here, in particular, publicly funded project-based pilot services often lack continuity because no sustained funding for updates and maintenance is available once the project is completed. (Bruno Soares and Buontempo, 2019). Thus, sustained funding of CS beyond pilot and prototype developments of products are also an important quality factor for CS.

	Generic	Customised
Focused	 Maps & Apps General climate services For all users Made freely or cheaply available 	 Expert Analysis Mono- or multidisciplinary climate services Tailored to specific decision-making situations Offered commercially
Integrated	 Mutual climate- and climate pol- icy services Among knowledgeable peers Made freely or cheaply available 	 Climate-inclusive Consulting Interdisciplinary management, engineering, or policy services including climate data Tailored to specific decision-making situations Offered commercially

Fable 4: A Typolog	of Climate	Services (from	Visscher et al.,	2020)
--------------------	------------	----------------	------------------	-------

Climateurope2



Figure 20. Output criteria and indicators (after Schuck-Zöller and Keup-Thiel (2018)

The possibility of certifying a CS product would be very helpful for both providers and users of climate services. Providers, especially those in the private sector, could use this for advertising purposes, and users could use the certification to increase confidence and trust in the quality of the product and also enable better comparability in the diverse market. In this respect, a certification / standardisation procedure for a climate service (if applicable / possible) could be a step forward for everybody. Nevertheless, not all CS products (or parts) will be suitable for standardisation (see D1.1 & D1.2 of WP1).

Schuck-Zöller and Keup-Thiel (2018) put together a detailed checklist of key criteria and output indicators for a high-quality climate service (see Figure 20). The major (high-)quality criteria for the output part of a climate service can be summarised as follows:

- Scientific quality:
 - Climate service product is based on up-to-date high-quality data, which is suitable for the application. -> Reliability
 - Limitations and uncertainties of the product are well documented, accessible and understandable for the user -> Transparency
- Fit-for purpose:
 - The information provided by a CS is easy to understand, ready to use and provides usable results and guidance. -> Lucidity & clarity
- Availability:
 - The product is easily findable and accessible

Climateurope2

- \circ The product is freely available or the user has appropriate rights of use
- \circ $\;$ Timely delivery of the product to allow appropriate and timely action by the user

(Note: different policies of public and private providers have to be taken into account)

Which quality indicators and parameters of a CS product can be standardised? For some criteria and indicators such as scientific and methodological quality standards (see also Section 3.23.2) are already available (see Deliverable 1.1 of CE2) or could be developed, for others like strategic or practical criteria further discussions and investigation are required.

3.5 Outcome (whether and how the climate service is used)

As indicated in section 3.4, the success of a climate service depends on the extent to which the product is actually used enabling the user to make informed decisions and actions and to which consequences and impacts the use of the service leads. Bridging the so-called "valley of death" between technical invention and (commercially) successful innovation (Hermansen et al., 2021 and Swart et al., 2021, Figure 21) is an important issue in this context.



Figure 21. Bridging the valley of death (from Swart et al., 2021).

Problems often occur at this interface so that viable climate services developed "upstream" by (public) providers do not reach the "downstream" part. Damm et al. (2020) stated in a study of the tourism sector in Austria: "The main barriers to the use of CS in tourism include wide- spread low levels of risk awareness, a certain degree of risk denial, a lacking sense of urgency due to (yet still) little financial pressure, and rather short business decision cycles, which lead to a low prioritisation of climate issues. Furthermore, lack of knowledge of existing services and their benefits, lack of applicability, and distrust

Climateurope2

in climate services restrict their use". Guentschev et al. (2023) addressed the following issues of "upscaling" a CS from the prototype to a fully-fledged CS: "Barriers include problems with leadership (e.g., the absence of a long-term vision and/or strategy for upscaling); limited funding or lack of a business model for the service at scale; issues with the enabling environment for upscaling (e.g., poor policy context, inadequate governance systems); and poor user engagement".

Thus, a climate service is only valuable and useful if it can be successfully applied by the user and/or represents an (added) value for them and ultimately changes actions in a (positive) way. Examples can be found in the area of seasonal forecasts of temperature and precipitation, on the basis of which farmers can prepare irrigation measures or pest control and thus minimise yield losses or optimise yields (e.g., MEDGOLD project: Dell'Aquila et al., 2023; Terrado et al., 2023a). The management of water reservoirs for energy production or drinking water supply also fit in this category (Delpiazzo, 2022, WMO, 2021, 2022b, <u>https://aquaclew.eu/climate-services-in-hydropower-sector/</u>). In view of the changes to be expected as a result of climate change, long-term decisions on climate adaptation and mitigation are necessary in order to minimise economic and social risks. This includes protection against extreme events (heat, storms, extreme precipitation, droughts) (e.g., WMO, 2020), but also long-term urban planning, flood protection or forest conversion (e.g., Climate ADAPT (<u>https://climate-adapt.eea.europa.eu</u>), UNHSP, 2014, Rizvi et al., 2015).

In addition to the pure information about expected (climate-related) changes, the development of options for action based on this information together with the users is of particular advantage for the successful application of a climate service. In this context, it is particularly important for users to be informed about the uncertainties in statements on climate predictions and future climate developments. Due to the long-term nature of some processes, measuring the impact of such climate services is often only feasible and meaningful on longer time scales.

Another aspect in evaluating the success of climate services are recommendations of the service by users. Furthermore, direct or indirect user feedback is very helpful for the provider to further improve the products.

As described in section 3.3 regular evaluation procedures help to assess the outcome and quality of the climate service, in particular from the user side. See Zahid et al. (2020), Schuck-Zöller et al. (2017), Vaughan and Dessai (2014), Wall et al. (2017) for details on evaluation procedures. Schuck-Zöller and Keup-Thiel (2018) (see Figure 22) provided a number of criteria and indicators to check the quality of the outcome of a climate service.

In summary, major quality criteria for the outcome part of a climate service can be summarised as follows:

- Use of the Service:
 - Climate service is used successfully (several times) by the customer
 - Use of the climate service fulfils expectations and to envisaged impact

Climateurope2

- Satisfaction:
 - User recommends the climate service to others
 - User provides positive feedback
 - User provides suggestions for further improvements of the product
- Valorisation:
 - The service becomes operational, can be applied and widely used
- Users Learning effects:
 - The usage of the CS leads to the desired societal transformation or changes (impact)

Which parts of outcome parameters have potential for standardisation? Outcome criteria are by far more difficult to quantify, thus, it will be much more difficult to develop standardised procedures to measure the outcome of a CS.



Figure 22: Outcome criteria & indicators (after Schuck-Zöller and Keup-Thiel, 2018)

Climateurope2

4 Discussion / Conclusions

Summarising the quality criteria found in the literature for the different components of the value chain of CS, a number of indicators for "high quality" were presented in section 3. The Word-cloud below displays the content of Table 5 that summarises criteria and indicators of the different components of a CS along the logic model used in this study.



Figure 23: Quality criteria and indicators for the components of CS along the value chain discussed in section 3.

Climateurope2

Table 5: Summary of quality criteria and indicators for the components of CS along the value chaindiscussed in Section 3.

	Input	Co-production	Output	Outcome
Accuracy & relia- bility	Data quality	Comprehensive information	Data quality	Scientific connec- tivity
	Quality assur- ance	Proof of concept	Quality assur- ance	
	Uncertainties documented	Tailored to user needs	Completeness	
	Metadata ac- cording FAIR principles		Reliability	
	Transparency	Transparency	Transparency	
	Standards		Reflexibility	
	Up-to-date		Up-to-date	
Availability	Accessibility	Adequate re- sources	Accessibility	Timely delivered
	Easy entry	Timely delivered	Easy entry	
	Sustained fund- ing		Sustained fund- ing	
	Support for downloads		Sustained sup- port	

Climateurope2

	Input	Co-production	Output	Outcome
	Sustained data archive		Media responsiv- ity	
	Free or afforda- ble data		Affordable prod- uct	
Degree of inno- vation	State-of-the-art models	Equitable meth- ods	Permanent im- provement	Degree of inno- vation
			Inventive	Evaluation
			Strategy for fur- ther develop- ment	
			Sustainable prod- uct	Sustainable solu- tion
Credibility & le- gitimacy	Documentation	Building trust	Information on product	Licensing
	Transparency	Transparency	Events & presen- tations	Transferability
	Proven scientific expertise	Evaluation	PR material & ac- tivities	Operationalisa- tion
	Publications	Feedback	Publications	Recommenda- tions
Tailored to user needs	Demand driven	Common lan- guage	Level of language	Duration of use

Climateurope2

Input	Co-production	Output	Outcome
Appropriateness	Joint implemen- tation	Achievement of purpose	Depth of use
Completeness	Decision support tools	Lucidity	Frequency of use
	Case studies	Coverage of tar- get group	Suitable for tar- get group
	Demand driven	Usefulness	Applicability for education
		Rights of use	Relevance
		Potential for so- cietal transfor- mation	Societal transfor- mation capability
		Potential for transfer	Improvement of expertise
			Impact of prod- uct
			Value for user

Most of the criteria are qualitative and often depend on the user (group) and the context the service is used. Thus, a climate service product (or the co-production process) might not be universally rated to be good or bad, as it might be suitable for a specific user group but not suitable for a different audience, in particular, if the product is not confined or designed for a specific user group (e.g., a free web-portal or mobile application) (see WMO, 2018a).

Nevertheless, there are also clear quality indicators that are independent of the user group, e.g., data quality and usability for the problem to be solved or comprehensive meta data information. And an

end-to-end co-production process ensures to the extent possible that the CS product is fit-for-purpose and can be applied as desired by the user.

The major criteria and indicators for high-quality climate services can be grouped under a set of principles, taking into account the scientific basis (input / data) and the co-production process (user focus, collaborative and transparent processes) to ensure the development of accessible, sustainable, and equitable products that fulfil the user needs.

4.1 Initial Guiding principles for high-quality Climate Services

Based on the literature review performed for this study, high-quality climate services should be designed and delivered in accordance with the following guiding principles:

- Science-based: Climate services should be based on credible science and evidence. Service
 providers should use the best available scientific data, models, and methods to develop and
 deliver climate information. References to peer-reviewed literature and / or official certificates (e.g., Certified Consulting Meteorologists of the American Meteorological Society
 (https://www.ametsoc.org/index.cfm/ams/education-careers/careers/ams-professional-certification-programs/certified-consulting-meteorologist-program-ccm/) can build confidence
 and trust in the user community.
- 2. **User-focused**: Climate service providers should engage with users and stakeholders to understand their needs, priorities, and decision-making contexts. This will help ensure that climate information is relevant, usable, and actionable.
- 3. **Transparent**: Climate services should be transparent about their data sources, methodologies, and assumptions. Climate service providers should clearly communicate the limitations and uncertainties of climate information to users and stakeholders to build and increase trust. Here standards and guidelines (e.g., such as the FAIR principles) can help the user community to develop trust in the product and to be aware of the limitations.
- 4. **Collaborative**: Climate services should be developed and delivered through collaboration among different stakeholders, including scientists, policymakers, practitioners, and users. Service providers should engage in regular dialogue with users and stakeholders to ensure that climate information is useful and relevant. Feedback by the users provide valuable information to further improve the quality of the product. Thus, feedback and evaluation processes should be a vital part of the CS development.
- 5. **Timely and accessible**: Climate services should be provided in a timely and accessible manner. Service providers should use user-friendly formats and platforms to deliver climate infor-

mation to users, taking into account differences in literacy levels, languages, and technological infrastructure. Information should be easily locatable and (to the extent possible), be freely accessible.

- 6. **Sustainable:** Climate Services should be designed to be sustainable over the long term. Service providers should ensure that their services are adequately resourced over time, and that they have the capacity to adapt to changing user needs, new scientific developments, and evolving policy contexts.
- 7. **Equitable**: Climate service products should be freely accessible and usable to the extent possible, to ensure that they are available to users with limited resources. The outcome of a climate service should (to the extent possible) take equitable measures into account.

By following these guiding principles, climate service providers can help ensure that their services are of high quality, and that they support effective decision-making and action on climate change. As pointed out in the discussions, the overall quality of a climate service depends on a number of factors and the context in which a specific service and product is used. Thus, even though many quality criteria might be fulfilled, a success cannot be guaranteed.

Which elements of a climate service development could be a subject to standardisation or certification?

Standardization and / or certification of processes has different goals: e.g., it ensures comparability, maintains quality, provides transparency and builds trust. As climate services are very inhomogeneous and complex, a common standardization procedure which can be applied to all CS is certainly unrealistic. On the other hand, certain elements and procedures of a CS might be feasible to be standardized. Standards can pave the way for certification of elements of climate services such as:

- Certification of provider (e.g., based on requirements for scientific expertise, standards for input data quality, etc.)
- Certification of products (based on product quality, standards for metadata information, sustainable product)
- Certification of elements of a (co-production) process (e.g., based on standards for user-provider interactions, or feedback and evaluation processes)

As pointed out in this document, parts of the value chain of a climate service can be standardised or might have potential to be standardised in future. Most advanced are parts and processes related to data and quality control of input parameters of a climate service. Here, standards already exist or are under development (UKCRP, 2022). As co-production is a widely accepted method to improve / ensure high quality products and outcome of a service, it should be discussed which parts of co-production e.g., quality control, quality assessments and evaluation procedures can be standardised.

Although one goal of standardization is to maintain comparable quality, standards are not necessarily based on the highest achievable quality of certain parameters. Nevertheless, criteria and indicators for high-quality provide a sound basis for the development of standards and certifications.

4.2 Next steps:

These guiding principles for high-quality climate services are based on a comprehensive but qualitative literature review. During the lifetime of the Climateurope2 project we will add further information and knowledge obtained by further desk research, community engagement, case studies, surveys and workshops covering more aspects of the climate service landscape. These results will be summarised in D4.4 and D4.11 at month 24 and 48 respectively.

Acknowledgement

Very valuable comments to improve the manuscript were provided by Gerics staff and members of the Climateurope2 consortium, namely: Marina Baldissera Pacchetti, Jörg Cortekar, Uros Davidovic, Kirsten Halsnaes, Elke Keup Thiel, Werner Krauss, Aleksandra Krzic, Harilaos Loukos, Karyn Morrisey, Kevin Ramirez, Susanne Schuck-Zöller, Saoia Zorita Castresana.



5 References

Abegg, B., Morin, S., Demiroglu, O. C, H. François, M. Rothleitner, U. Strasser, 2021. Overloaded! Critical revision and a new conceptual approach for snow indicators in ski tourism. *Int. J. Biometeorol.*, **65**, 691–701. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00484-020-01867-3</u>

Barnet, A. F., A. B. Ciurana, J. X. Olano Pozo, A. Russo, R. Coscarelli, L. Antronico, F. De Pascale, Ò. Saladié, S. Anton-Clavé, E. Aguilar, 2021. Climate services for tourism: An applied methodology for user engagement and co-creation in European destinations. Clim. Serv., 23, 100249, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2021.100249</u>.

Baulenas, E., D. Bojovic, D. Urquiza, M. Terrado, S. Pickard, N. González, and A. L. S. Clair, 2023. User Selection and Engagement for Climate Services Coproduction. *Wea. Climate Soc.*, **15**, 381–392, <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/WCAS-D-22-0112.1</u>.

Bessembinder, J., M. Terrado, C. Hewitt, N. Garrett, L. Kotova, M. Buonocore, R. Groenland, 2019. Need for a common typology of climate services. Clim. Serv., 16, 100135, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2019.100135</u>

Biswas, R. R., R. Sharma, Y. Gyasi-Agyei, 2022. Urban water crises: Making sense of climate change adaptation barriers and success parameters. Clim. Serv., 27, 100302, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2022.100302</u>.

Blair, B., A. M. U. Gierisch, J. Jeuring, S. M. Olsen, M. Lamers, 2022. Mind the gap! A consensus analysis of users and producers on trust in new sea ice information products. Clim. Serv., 28, 100323, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2022.100323</u>.

Bojovic, D., A. L. St. Clair, I. Christel, M. Terrado, P. Stanzel, P. Gonzalez, E. J. Palin, 2021. Engagement, involvement and empowerment: Three realms of a coproduction framework for climate services. Global Environmental Change, 68, 102271, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gloenvcha.2021.102271</u>

Boon, E., S. J. Wright, R. Biesbroek, H. Goosen, F. Ludwig, 2022. Successful climate services for adaptation: What we know, don't know and need to know. Clim. Serv., 27, 100314, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2022.100314</u>

Brasseur G. P., L. Gallardo, 2016. Climate Services: Lessons learned and future perspectives. Earth's Future, 4, 79-89, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/2015EF000338</u>

Bremer, S. and S. Meisch, 2017. Co-production in climate change research: reviewing different perspectives. WIREs Clim Change, 8, e482, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.482</u>

Bremer, S., A. Wardekker, S. Dessai, S. Sobolowski, R. Slaattelid, J. van der Sluijs, 2019. Toward a multifaceted conception of co-production of climate services, Clim. Serv., 13, 42-50, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2019.01.003</u>

Bremer, S., A. Wardekker, E.S. Jensen and J.P. van der Sluijs, 2021. Quality Assessment in Co-developing Climate Services in Norway and the Netherlands. Front. Clim., 3:627665, <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fclim.2021.627665</u>

Briley, L., D. Brown, S. E. Kalafatis, 2015. Overcoming barriers during the co-production of climate information for decision-making. Climate Risk Management, 9, 41-49, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2015.04.004</u>.

Bruno Soares, M., M. Daly, S. Dessai, 2018. Assessing the value of seasonal climate forecasts for decision-making. WIREs Clim Change, 9:e523, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.523</u>

Bruno Soares, M., M. Alexander, S. Dessai, 2018. Sectoral use of climate information in Europe: A synoptic overview. Clim. Serv., 9, 5-20, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2017.06.001</u>.

Bruno Soares, M, C. Buontempo, 2019. Challenges to the sustainability of climate services in Europe. WIREs Clim Change, 10:e587, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.587</u>

Buontempo, C., H. M. Hanlon, M. Bruno Soares, I. Christel, J.-M. Soubeyroux, C. Viel, S. Calmanti, L. Bosi, P. Falloon, E. J. Palin, E. Vanvyve, V. Torralba, N. Gonzalez-Reviriego, F. Doblas-Reyes, E. C.D. Pope, P. Newton, F. Liggins, 2018. What have we learnt from EUPORIAS climate service prototypes? Clim. Serv., 9, 21-32, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2017.06.003</u>.

Buontempo, C., R. Hutjes, P. Beavis, J. Berckmans, C. Cagnazzo, F. Vamborg, J.-N. Thépaut, C. Bergeron, S. Almond, A. Amici, S. Ramasamy, D. Dee, 2020. Fostering the development of climate services through Copernicus Climate Change Service (C3S) for agriculture applications. Weather and Climate Extremes, 27, 100226, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wace.2019.100226</u>

Buontempo, C., S. N. Burgess, D. Dee, B. Pinty, J. Thépaut, M. Rixen, S. Almond, D. Armstrong, A. Brookshaw, A. L. Alos, B. Bell, C. Bergeron, C. Cagnazzo, E. Comyn-Platt, E. Damasio-Da-Costa, A. Guillory, H. Hersbach, A. Horányi, J. Nicolas, A. Obregon, E. P. Ramos, B. Raoult, J. Muñoz-Sabater, A. Simmons, C. Soci, M. Suttie, F. Vamborg, J. Varndell, S. Vermoote, X. Yang, J. Garcés de Marcilla, J., 2022. The Copernicus Climate Change Service: Climate Science in Action. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 103(12), E2669-E2687, <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/BAMS-D-21-0315.1</u>

Carter, S., A. Steynor, K. Vincent, E. Visman, E., and K. Waagsaether, 2019. Co-production of African weather and climate services. Second edition. Manual, Cape Town: Future Climate for Africa and Weather and Climate Information Services for Africa, (<u>https://futureclimateafrica.org/coproduction-manual</u>)

Chambers, J.M., C. Wyborn, M.E. Ryan, R.S. Reid, M. Riechers, A. Serban, N.J. Bennett, C. Cvitanovic, M. E. Fernández-Giménez, K. A. Galvin, B. E. Goldstein, N. L. Klenk, M. Tengö, R. Brennan, J. J. Cockburn, R. Hill, C. Munera, J. L. Nel, H. Österblom, A. T. Bednarek, E. M. Bennett, A. Brandeis, L. Charli-

Climateurope2

Joseph, P. Chatterton, K. Curran, P. Dumrongrojwatthana, A. Paz Durán, S.J. Fada, J.-D. Gerber, J. M. H. Green, A.M. Guerrero, T. Haller, A.-I. Horcea-Milcu, B. Leimona, J. Montana, R. Rondeau, M. Spierenburg, P. Steyaert, J. G. Zaehringer, R. Gruby, J. Hutton, T. Pickering, 2021. Six modes of co-production for sustainability. *Nat Sustain* 4, 983–996, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-021-00755-x</u>

Clements, J., A. Ray, G. Anderson, 2013: The value of climate services across economic and public sectors: a review of relevant literature. Prepared for: United States Agency for International Development, Climate Change Resilient Development Project, Climate Services Partnership, Economic Valuation Working Group. <u>https://www.climate-services.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/04/CCRD-Climate-Services-Value-Report_FINAL.pdf</u>

Climateurope, 2017: D4.2: Lessons and practice of co-developing Climate services with users. <u>https://www.climateurope.eu/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Climateurope_D4.2_FINAL.pdf</u>

Climateurope2, 2023: 1.1: Current landscape of initiatives and standardization norms and approaches. <u>https://earth.bsc.es/climateurope2/lib/exe/fetch.php?media=wiki:content:d1.1_ce2_v1.1.pdf</u>

Condon, M., 2023: Climate Services - The Business of Physical Risk. Arizona State Law Journal, Forthcoming, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.4396826</u>

Cortekar, J., M. Themessl, K. Lamich, 2020. Systematic analysis of EU-based climate service providers. Clim. Serv., 17, 100125, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2019.100125</u>.

Dell'Aquila, A., A. Graça, M. Teixeira, N. Fontes, N. Gonzalez-Reviriego, R. Marcos-Matamoros, C. Chou, M. Terrado, C. Giannakopoulos, K. V. Varotsos, F. Caboni, R. Locci, M. Nanu, S. Porru, G. Argiolas, M. Bruno Soares, M. Sanderson, 2023. Monitoring climate related risk and opportunities for the wine sector: The MED-GOLD pilot service. Clim. Serv., 30, 100346, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2023.100346.

Damm, A., J. Köberl, P. Stegmaier, E. Jiménez Alonso, A. Harjanne, 2020. The market for climate services in the tourism sector – An analysis of Austrian stakeholders' perceptions. Clim. Serv., 17, 100094, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2019.02.001.

Daniels, E., S. Bharwani, Å. G. Swartling, G. Vulturius, K. Brandon, 2020. Refocusing the climate services lens: Introducing a framework for co-designing "transdisciplinary knowledge integration processes" to build climate resilience. Clim. Serv., 19, 100181, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2020.100181.

Delpiazzo, E., F. Bosello, P. Mazzoli, S. Bagli, V. Luzzi, F. Dalla Valle, 2022. Co-evaluation of climate services. A case study for hydropower generation. Clim. Serv., 28, 100335, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2022.100335</u>.

DeGEval – Gesellschaft für Evaluation e.V., 2016: Standards für Evaluation. Mainz, ISBN 978-3-941569-06-5, <u>https://www.degeval.org/fileadmin/Publikationen/DeGEval-Standards_fuer_Evalua-</u> <u>tion.pdf</u>

Climateurope2

Djenontin, I.N.S., Meadow, A.M., 2018. The art of co-production of knowledge in environmental sciences and management: lessons from international practice. *Environmental Management*, **61**, 885–903. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00267-018-1028-3

Doblas-Reyes, F.J., A.A. Sörensson, M. Almazroui, A. Dosio, W.J. Gutowski, R. Haarsma, R. Hamdi, B. Hewitson, W.-T. Kwon, B.L. Lamptey, D. Maraun, T.S. Stephenson, I. Takayabu, L. Terray, A. Turner, and Z. Zuo, 2021: Linking Global to Regional Climate Change. In: Masson-Delmotte, V., P. Zhai, A. Pirani, S.L. Connors, C. Péan, S. Berger, N. Caud, Y. Chen, L. Goldfarb, M.I. Gomis, M. Huang, K. Leitzell, E. Lonnoy, J.B.R. Matthews, T.K. Maycock, T. Waterfield, O. Yelekçi, R. Yu, and B. Zhou (eds.): Climate Change 2021: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Sixth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA, pp. 1363–1512, <u>10.1017/9781009157896.012</u>

Dressel, M., 2022: Models of science and society: transcending the antagonism. *Humanit. Soc. Sci. Commun.*, **9**, 241, <u>https://doi.org/10.1057/s41599-022-01261-x</u>

Englund, M., A. Karin, G. Swartling Åsa, I.-J. Jenny, 2022. Four Methodological Guidelines to Evaluate the Research Impact of Co-produced Climate Services. Frontiers in Climate, 4, <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fclim.2022.909422</u>

EU-MACS, 2018, D1.1 – Review and Analysis of Climate Service Market Conditions <u>https://eu-macs.eu/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/EU-MACS-D11_CLIMATE-SERVICE-MARKET-CONDI-TIONS.pdf</u>

EU-MACS, 2018, D1.2 Existing Resourcing and Quality Assurance of Current Climate Services – Revised, <u>https://eu-macs.eu/wp-content/uploads/2017/07/EUMACS_D12_v2x.pdf</u>

EU-MARCO, 2018, D2.3 - Final definition, taxonomy and report <u>https://marco-h2020.eu/wp-con-tent/uploads/2020/01/MARCO_D2_3_Final_Definition_Taxonomy_and_Report.pdf</u>

EU-MARCO, 2018, D3.2 Analysis of EU-based climate services providers <u>https://marco-h2020.eu/wp-content/uploads/2020/01/MARCO_D3_2_Analysis_of_EU_Based_Climate_Services_Providers.pdf</u>

European Commission, 2015. A European research and innovation roadmap for climate services. Luxembourg: European Commission.

FAO, 2021. Global outlook on climate services in agriculture – Investment opportunities to reach the last mile. Rome. <u>https://doi.org/10.4060/cb6941en</u>

Frechtling, J.A., 2015. Logic Models, In: International Encyclopedia of the Social & Behavioral Sciences (Second Edition), Eds: James D. Wright, Elsevier, 299-305, ISBN 9780080970875, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-08-097086-8.10549-5</u>.

Findlater, K., S. Webber, M. Kandlikar, S. Donner, 2021. Climate services promise better decisions but mainly focus on better data. *Nat. Climate Change*, **11**, 731–737, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41558-021-01125-3</u>

Georgi, B., S. Isoard, M. Asquith, C. Garzillo, R.J. Swart, J. G. Timmerman, 2016. Urban adaptation to climate change in Europe 2016: Transforming cities in a changing climate. (12 ed.) EEA Report; No 12/2016. ETC CCA. <u>http://www.eea.europa.eu/publications/urban-adaptation-2016</u>

Golding, N., C. Hewitt, P. Zhang, 2017. Effective engagement for climate services: Methods in practice in China. Clim. Serv., 8, 72-76, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2017.11.002</u>.

Grossi, A., T. Dinku, 2022. Enhancing national climate services: How systems thinking can accelerate locally led adaptation. One Earth, 5 (1), 74-83, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.oneear.2021.12.007</u>.

Guentchev, G., E. J. Palin, J. A. Lowe, M. Harrison, 2023. Upscaling of climate services – What is it? A literature review. Clim. Serv., 30, 100352, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2023.100352</u>.

Hermansen, E.A.T., J. Sillmann, I. Vigo, S. Whittlesey, 2021. The EU needs a demand-driven innovation policy for climate services. Clim. Serv., 24, 100270, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2021.100270</u>

Hewitt, C.D., N. Garrett, P. Newton, 2017a. Climateurope – coordinating and supporting Europe's knowledge base to enable better management of climate-related risks. Clim. Serv., 17, 77-79, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2017.07.004</u>

Hewitt, C.D., R. Stone, A. Rait, 2017b. Improving the use of climate information in decision-making. *Nature Clim. Change*, **7**, 614–616, <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate3378</u>

Hewitt, C.D., N. Golding, P. Zhang, T. Dunbar, P. E. Bett, J. Camp, T. D. Mitchell, E. Pope, 2020. The Process and Benefits of Developing Prototype Climate Services—Examples in China. *J. Meteorol. Res.*, **34**, 893–903, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s13351-020-0042-6</u>

Hewitt, C. D., R. Stone, 2021. Climate services for managing societal risks and opportunities. Clim. Serv., 23, 100240, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2021.100240</u>

Hewitt, C. D., F. Guglielmo, S. Joussaume, J. Bessembinder, I. Christel, I., F.-J. Doblas-Reyes, V. Djurdjevic, N. Garrett, E. Kjellström, A. Krzic, M. M. Costa, A. L. St. Clair, 2021a. Recommendations for Future Research Priorities for Climate Modeling and Climate Services. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 102(3), E578-E588, <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/BAMS-D-20-0103.1</u>

Hewitt, C. D., J. Bessembinder, M. Buonocore, T. Dunbar, N. Garrett, L. Kotova, S. New, P. Newton, R. Parfitt, C. Buontempo, F. Doblas-Reyes, F. Guglielmo, D. Jacob, E. Kjellström, A. Krzic, H. Martins, A. Pietrosanti, M. Terrado, 2021b. Coordination of Europe's climate-related knowledge base: Networking and collaborating through interactive events, social media and focussed groups. Clim. Serv., 24, 100264, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2021.100264</u>.

Kaspar, F., G. Müller-Westermeier, E. Penda, H. Mächel, K. Zimmermann, A. Kaiser-Weiss, T. Deutschländer, 2013. Monitoring of climate change in Germany – data, products and services of Germany's National Climate Data Centre. Adv. Sci. Res., 10, 99-106, <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.5194/asr-10-99-2013</u>

Keele, S., 2019. Consultants and the business of climate services: implications of shifting from public to private science. Climatic Change, 157, 9–26, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-019-02385-x</u>

Climateurope2

Kolstad, E. W., O.N. Sofienlund, H. Kvamsås, M. A. Stiller-Reeve, S. Neby, S., Ø. Paasche, M. Pontoppidan, S. P. Sobolowski, H. Haarstad, S. E. Oseland, L. Omdahl, S. Waage, S., 2019. Trials, Errors, and Improvements in Coproduction of Climate Services. *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 100(8), 1419-1428, <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/BAMS-D-18-0201.1</u>

Lacagnina, C., F. Doblas-Reyes, G. Larnicol, C. Buontempo, A. Obregón, M. Costa-Surós, D. San-Martín, P.-A. Bretonnière, S. D. Polade, V. Romanova, D. Putero, F. Serva, A. Llabrés-Brustenga, A. Pérez, D. Cavaliere, O. Membrive, C. Steger, N. Pérez-Zanón, P. Cristofanelli, F. Madonna, M. Rosoldi, A. Riihelä, M. G. Díez, 2022. Quality Management Framework for Climate Datasets. *Data Science Journal*, 21: 10, 1–25, <u>https://doi.org/10.5334/dsj-2022-010</u>

Larosa, F., J. Mysiak, 2019. Mapping the landscape of Climate Services. *Environ. Res. Lett.*, **14**, 093006, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1748-9326/ab304d</u>

Larosa, F., J. Mysiak, 2020. Business models for climate services: An analysis, Clim. Serv., 17, 100111, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2019.100111.

Le, T.-T., A. Perrels, J. Cortekar, 2020. European climate services markets – Conditions, challenges, prospects, and examples, Clim. Serv., 17, 100149, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2020.100149</u>

Lledó, Ll., V. Torralba, A. Soret, J. Ramon, F.J. Doblas-Reyes, 2019. Seasonal forecasts of wind power generation. Renewable Energy, 143, 91-100, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2019.04.135</u>

Máñez Costa, M., A.M.P. Oen, T.-S. Neset, L. Celliers, M. Suhari, J.-T. Huang-Lachmann, R. Pimentel, B. Blair, J. Jeuring, E. Rodriguez-Camino, C. Photiadou, Y. J. Columbié, C. Gao, N.-C. Tudose, S. Cheval, A. Votsis, J. West, K. Lee, L.C. Shaffrey, C. Auer, H. Hoff, I. Menke, P. Walton, S. Schuck-Zöller, 2021. Co-production of Climate Services. CSPR Report No 2021:2, Centre for Climate Science and Policy Research, Norrköping, Sweden, <u>https://doi.org/10.3384/9789179291990</u>

Mauser, W., G. Klepper, M. Rice, B. S. Schmalzbauer, H. Hackmann, R. Leemans, H. Moore, 2013:Transdisciplinary global change research: the co-creation of knowledge for sustainability. CurrentOpinioninEnvironmentalSustainability,5,3-4,420-431,https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cosust.2013.07.001.

Miller, C. A., C. Wyborn, 2020. Co-production in global sustainability: Histories and theories. Environmental Science & Policy, 113, 88-95, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2018.01.016</u>.

NSTC (National Science and Technology Council), 2023. A Federal Framework and Action Plan for Climate Services. Washington, March 2023, 53 pp, <u>https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/up-loads/2023/03/FTAC Report 03222023 508.pdf</u>

Neset, T.-S., J. Wilk, S. Cruz, M. Graça, J.K. Rød, M.J. Maarse, P. Wallin, L. Andersson, 2021. Co-designing a citizen science climate service. Clim. Serv., 24, 100273, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2021.100273.

Norström, A.V., C. Cvitanovic, M.F. Löf, S. West, C. Wyborn, P. Balvanera, A.T. Bednarek, E. M. Bennett, R. Biggs, A. de Bremond, B. M. Campbell, J. G. Canadell, S. R. Carpenter, C. Folke, E. A. Fulton, O. Gaffney, S. Gelcich, J.-B. Jouffray, M. Leach, M. Le Tissier, B. Martín-López, E. Louder, M.-F. Loutre, A.

Climateurope2

M. Meadow, H. Nagendra, D. Payne, G. D. Peterson, B. Reyers, R. Scholes, C. Ifejika Speranza, M. Spierenburg, M. Stafford-Smith, M. Tengö, S. van der Hel, I. van Putten, H. Österblom, 2020: Principles for knowledge co-production in sustainability research. *Nat. Sustain.* **3**, 182–190, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41893-019-0448-2

OECD, 2002. Evaluation and Aid Effectiveness No. 6 - Glossary of Key Terms in Evaluation and Results Based Management. <u>https://doi.org/10.1787/9789264034921-en-fr</u>

Perrels, A., T.-T. Le, J. Cortekar, E. Hoa, P. Stegmaier, 2020. How much unnoticed merit is there in climate services? Clim. Serv., 17, 100153, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2020.100153</u>

Rizvi, A.R., S. Baig, E. Barrow, C. Kumar, 2015. Synergies between Climate Mitigation and Adaptation in Forest Landscape Restoration. Gland Switzerland: IUCN, <u>https://portals.iucn.org/library/node/45203</u>

Rubio-Martin, A., M. Máñez Costa, M. Pulido-Velazquez, A. Garcia- Prats, L. Celliers, F. Llario, J. Macian, 2021. Structuring climate service co-creation using a business model approach. *Earth's Future*, 9, e2021EF002181, <u>https://doi.org/10.1029/2021EF002181</u>.

Rubio-Martin, A., F. Llario, A. Garcia-Prats, H. Macian-Sorribes, J. Macian, M. Pulido-Velazquez, 2023: Climate services for water utilities: Lessons learnt from the case of the urban water supply to Valencia, Spain. Clim. Serv., 29, 100338, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2022.100338</u>

Schuck-Zöller, S., Cortekar, J., Jacob, D., 2017. Evaluating co-creation of knowledge: from quality criteria and indicators to methods. Adv. Sci. Res., 14, 305–312, <u>https://doi.org/10.5194/asr-14-305-2017</u>

Schuck-Zöller, S., E. Keup-Thiel, H. Brix, C. Buschbaum, J. Cortekar, C. Eschenbach, I. Fischer-Bruns, S. Frickenhaus, K. Grosfeld, L. Gutow, W. Hiller, D. Jacob, G. Krause, E. Meyer, I. Meinke, L. Nerger, D. Rechid, C. Schrum, J. Schulz-Stellenfleth, E. Stanev, R. Treffeisen, 2018. Towards a framework for the evaluation of climate service and knowledge transfer products within climate and coastal research. Poster presentation, <u>https://www.gerics.de/imperia/md/content/csc/gerics/paces ag a0 hd final_ssz_neu_neu.pdf</u>

Schuck-Zöller, S., S. Bathiany, M. Dressel, J. El Zohbi, E. Keup-Thiel, D. Rechid, M.Suhari, 2022. Developing criteria of successful processes in co-creative research. A formative evaluation scheme for climate services. fteval Journal for Research and Technology Policy Evaluation (53). 43-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.22163/fteval.2022.541</u>

Soret, A., V. Torralba, N. Cortesi, I. Christel, Ll. Palma, A. Manrique-Suñén, Ll. Lledó, N. González-Reviriego, F. J. Doblas- Reyes, 2019. Sub-seasonal to seasonal climate predictions for wind energy forecasting. Journal of Physics: Conf. Series 1222, 012009, <u>https://doi.org/10.1088/1742-6596/1222/1/012009</u>

Stegmaier, P., R. Hamaker-Taylor, E. Jiménez Alonso, 2020. Reflexive climate service infrastructure relations. Clim. Serv., 17, 100151, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2020.100151</u>.

Climateurope2

Steuri, B., E. Viktor, J. El Zohbi, D. Jacob, 2022. Fashionable Climate Services: The Hats and Styles of User Engagement, *Bulletin of the American Meteorological Society*, 103(10), E2341-E2353, <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/BAMS-D-22-0009.1</u>.

Steynor, A., J. Lee, A. Davison, 2020. Transdisciplinary co-production of climate services: a focus on process. Social Dynamics, 414-423, <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/02533952.2020.1853961</u>.

Suhari, M., M. Dressel, S. Schuck-Zöller, 2022. Challenges and best-practices of co-creation: A qualitative interview study in the field of climate services. Clim. Serv., 25, 100282, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2021.100282</u>.

Swart, R.J., K. de Bruin, S. Dhenain, G. Dubois, A. Groot, E. von der Forst, 2017. Developing climate information portals with users: Promises and pitfalls. Clim. Serv., 6, 12-22, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2017.06.008</u>.

Swart, R., L. Celliers, M. Collard, A. Garcia Prats, J.-T. Huang-Lachmann, F. L. Sempere, F. de Jong, M. Máñez Costa, G. Martinez, M. Pulido Velazquez, A. Rubio Martín, W. Segretier, E. Stattner, W. Timmermans, 2021. Reframing climate services to support municipal and regional planning. Clim. Serv., 22, 100227, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2021.100227</u>.

Tart, S., M. Groth, P. Seipold, 2020. Market demand for climate services: An assessment of users' needs. Clim. Serv., 17, 100109, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2019.100109</u>.

Terrado, M., R. Marcos, N. González-Reviriego, I. Vigo, A. Nicodemou, A. Graça, M. Teixeira, N. Fontes, S. Silva, A. Dell'Aquila, L. Ponti, S. Calmanti, M. Bruno Soares, M. Khosravi, F. Caboni, 2023a. Co-production pathway of an end-to-end climate service for improved decision-making in the wine sector. Clim. Serv., 30, 100347, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2023.100347</u>.

Terrado, M., D. Bojovic, S. Octenjak, I. Christel, A. Lera St. Clair, 2023b. Good practice for knowledge co-development through climate related case studies. Climate Risk Management, 40, 100513, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.crm.2023.100513</u>.

UK Climate Resilience Programme, 2022. Climate Services: Principles, requirements and guidelines. https://www.ukclimateresilience.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/Climate-Services-Standard-Final-for-Publication.pdf

United Nations Human Settlements Programme, 2014. Planning for Climate Change - A strategic, values-based approach for urban planners. Nairobi, ISBN(Volume) 978-92-1-132596-6, <u>https://unhabi-tat.org/planning-for-climate-change-guide-a-strategic-values-based-approach-for-urban-planners</u>

Vaughan, C., S. Dessai, 2014. Climate services for society: origins, institutional arrangements, and design elements for an evaluation framework. *WIREs Clim Change*, 5, 587–603, <u>http://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.290</u>

Vaughan, C., S. Dessai, C. Hewitt, 2018. Surveying Climate Services: What Can We Learn from a Bird's-Eye View? *Weather, Climate, and Society*, 10(2), 373-395, <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/WCAS-D-17-0030.1</u>

Vaughan, C., M. F. Muth, D. P. Brown, 2019. Evaluation of regional climate services: Learning from seasonal-scale examples across the Americas. Clim. Serv., 15, 100104, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2019.100104</u>.

Vincent, K., M. Daly, C. Scannell, B. Leathes, 2018. What can climate services learn from theory and practice of co-production? Clim. Serv., 12, 48-58, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2018.11.001</u>

Visscher, K., P. Stegmaier, A. Damm, R. Hamaker-Taylor, A. Harjanne, R. Giordano, 2020. Matching supply and demand: A typology of climate services. Clim. Serv., 17, 100136, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2019.100136</u>

Vollstedt, B., J. Koerth, M. Tsakiris, N. Nieskens, A.T. Vafeidis, 2021. Co-production of climate services: A story map for future coastal flooding for the city of Flensburg. Clim. Serv., 22, 100225, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2021.100225</u>.

Vogel, C., A. Steynor, A. Manyuchi, 2019. Climate services in Africa: Re-imagining an inclusive, robust and sustainable service. Climate Services, 15, 100107, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2019.100107</u>.

Wall T. U., A. M. Meadow, A. Horganic, 2017. Developing evaluation indicators to improve the process of coproducing usable climate science. Weather Clim. Soc., 9:95–107, https://doi.org/10.1175/WCAS-D-16-0008.1

Webber, S., S. D. Donner, 2017. Climate service warnings: cautions about commercializing climate science for adaptation in the developing world. WIREs Climate Change, John Wiley & Sons, 8:e424, <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/wcc.424</u>

Weichselgartner, J., and B. Arheimer, 2019. Evolving Climate Services into Knowledge–Action Systems. *Weather, Climate, and Society*, 11(2), 385-399, <u>https://doi.org/10.1175/WCAS-D-18-0087.1</u>

Wilby, R., X. Lu, 2022. Tailoring climate information and services for adaptation actors with diverse capabilities. Climatic Change, 174:33, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s10584-022-03452-6</u>

Wilkinson, M., M. Dumontier, I. Aalbersberg, G. Appleton, M. Axton, A. Baak, N. Blomberg, J.-W. Boiten, L. Bonino da Silva Santos, P. E. Bourne, J. Bouwman, A. J. Brookes, T. Clark, M. Crosas, I. Dillo, O. Dumon, S. Edmunds, C. T. Evelo, R. Finkers, A. Gonzalez-Beltran, A.J.G. Gray, P. Groth, C. Goble, J. S. Grethe, J. Heringa, P.A.C. 't Hoen, R Hooft., T. Kuhn, R. Kok, J. Kok, S. J. Lusher, M. E. Martone, A. Mons, A. L. Packer, B. Persson, P. Rocca-Serra, M. Roos, R. van Schaik, S.-A. Sansone, E. Schultes, T. Sengstag, T. Slater, G. Strawn, M. A. Swertz, M. Thompson, J. van der Lei, E. van Mulligen, J. Velterop, A. Waagmeester, P. Wittenburg, K. Wolstencroft, J. Zhao, B. Mons, 2016: The FAIR Guiding Principles scientific for data management and stewardship. Sci Data, 3. 160018, https://doi.org/10.1038/sdata.2016.18

Williams, D. S., D. Jacob, 2021. From participatory to inclusive climate services for enhancing societal uptake. Clim. Serv., 24, 100266, <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cliser.2021.100266</u>.

WMO, 2018a: Guidance on Good Practices for Climate Services User Engagement. WMO No. 1214, ISBN 978-92-63-11214-9, <u>https://library.wmo.int/doc_num.php?explnum_id=4550</u>

Climateurope2

WMO, 2018b: Guidelines on Quality Management in Climate Services. WMO No. 1221, ISBN 978-92-63-11221-7, <u>https://library.wmo.int/doc_num.php?explnum_id=5174</u>

WMO, 2020: Global Framework for Climate Services: Progress Report 2009–2019, GFSC-2, <u>https://li-brary.wmo.int/doc_num.php?explnum_id=10294</u>

WMO, 2021: State of Climate Services 2021 – Water, WMO No. 1278, ISBN 978-92-63-11278-1, https://library.wmo.int/doc_num.php?explnum_id=10826.

WMO, 2022a: Guidelines for Communicating Climate Science and Services, WMO No. 1288, ISBN 978-92-63-11288-0, <u>https://library.wmo.int/doc_num.php?explnum_id=11319</u>.

WMO, 2022b: State of Climate Services 2022 – Energy, WMO No. 1301, ISBN 978-92-63-11301-6, https://library.wmo.int/doc_num.php?explnum_id=11340.

Zahid, M., J. El Zohbi, E. Viktor, D. Rechid, S. Schuck-Zöller, E. Keup-Thiel and D. Jacob, 2020. Evaluation of Climate Services: Enabling Users to Assess the Quality of Multi-model Climate Projections and Derived Products. In: Leal Filho, W., Jacob, D. (eds) Handbook of Climate Services. Climate Change Management. Springer, Cham, <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-36875-3_10</u>

